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2.

2.1

2.2,

2.3.

Executive Summary

Introduction

Following alfegations of possible financial mismanagement, SASCOC requested Deloitts o
periorm a forensic audit and investigation in respect of possible irregularities at ASA. Ostensibly
a company incorporated in terms of section 21 of the Companies Act. We commencad our
investigation onis February 2010 and focused our investigation on the fast cycle of four years
prior to the Leadership and Board Members of ASA being suspended in November 2003,
Therefore the period covered by our investigation is 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2009, also
referred to as the period under review,

In this executive summary we include the key points and findings of our investigation. Tha
executive summary should be read together with the detaif included in the full report.

Athletics South Africa operafing as a Non-Profjt Oryganisation (NPO) and
subsequently as a section 21 company

During our investigation we established ‘that ASA, prior to being incorporated as a section
21 company in November 2008, operated as a voluntary Non Profit Organization (NPO}. The
purpose of the Non Profit Organisation Act, Act 71 of 1997 (NPO Act), is to provide an
environment in which non-profit organisations can flourish and which ai the same time establishes
an administrative and regulatory framework within which ‘non-profit organisations can conduct
their business operations. We established that as a NPQ, ASA was not registered in terms of the
NPO Act at the Directorate for NPOs, Therefore the NPO Act and its requirements did not apply
to ASA prior to becoming a secfion 21 company,

I respest of ASA operafing as an NPO we found that the ASA Board of Members adopted and
regarded its Constitution: April 2004 {Constitution: 2004} as its founding and governing document.
in the remainder of ourreport, we set out and discuss in detail the relevant clauses and sactions
of this Constitution: 2004 insofar as they have a bearing on our investigation and our findings.
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2.5, We also established that ASA was incorperated under section 21 of the Companies Act wih
registration number 2008/034767/08 at the Registrar of Companies on § November 20086,
According to the registration docurentaiion the following individuals ars indicated as the directors
of ASA;

Sl S LA

Mr Len”ar Chuene

Dr Simon Dlamini Vice President

Mr Attlee Maponyane Director

Mr Harold Adams Director

Mr Stix Stiglingh Diracior

Mr Thomas Manoko Director

Mrs Laraine Lane Director

Mrs Motlatsi Keikabile Director N

28. SASCOC has advised that the ASA Board consisted of the following Directors, who were

suspanded in November 2008:
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Mr Leonard Chuene President

Mr Kakata Maponyane Vice President

Dr Slmaon Diamini Vice President o

#r Chris Britz Director

Mr Thomas Manoko Director

Mrs Laraine Lane Director

Mrs Snowy Matihows Director o -
jl_fx/ir Hendrick Mokganystsi o Director T T
Eﬁr Roger Adams o Dirsctor 7T
[ Mr Godfrey Hamurers ) Director T

T
|

Ms Liily Motete

| S——

ﬂrecior

~t

In respact of ASA’s status as 2 section 21 company it is important fo note the conients of & [atter
that Mr Clifford Cobers (Mr Cobers), SASCOC's Procurement Officer, forwarded to us on
17 June 2010. The letter was dated 17 Jupe 2010 and was received from ASA’s aliorneys,
Wertheim Becker tncorporated. in this fetter Mr Monty Hacker {Mr Hacker} of Wertheim Becker
Inc referred o an earlier letter sent by hir fo Mr Molatelo Matehopo (Mr Malehopo), the General
Manager of ASA on 28 May 2008. He also mentionad in detall several issues relating to ASA’'s
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2.14.

status as a section 21 company. The gist of these issues was that there is a misconception in the
public dornain that ASA is a section 21 company wheraas it is in fact not.,

We subsequently held a meeting with Mr Hacker on 21 dune 2010 1o discuss the contents of his
letter and the issues pertaining to ASA's stalus as a section 21 company. During this meeting
Mr Hacker stated that:

«  hawas of the view that afier ASA had bean registered as'a section 21 company the Board of
Directors did not formally transfer all the assets and fiabilities from ASA, as the former non-
profit organisation, fo ASA as the newly registered section 219 company.

© the Board of Direclors faited to record and authorize the formal fransfer of assets and
liabilities of ASA at the office of the Registrar of Companies and Close Corporafions
(Registrar of Companies) as part of its founding documents Le, the Memcrandum of
Association and Articles of Association,

= the membership of ASA, as an NPQO was not formally transferred to ASA as a section
21 company.

in-view of these arguments we investigated the circumstances surrounding the incorporation and
registration of ASA as a section 21 company and obiained legal advice from the commerciai law
experts in our Legal Department,

n this regard we found that, hased upon the registration documents obtained from the
Companies and Intellectual Properly Regisiration Office (CIPRO), ASA was prima facie fegally
registered as a section 21 company in Nevembear 2006, Tharefors the members and directors of
the. section 21 company are subject fo the prescripis of the Companies Act,

in our report we eiaborate on our findings confirming ASA's status as a tegally registered
section 21 company.

it is however important to note that, as our commercial lawyers pointed out to us, thare does
appear to be a concern regarding the legality of the transfer of Eif 1998, Houghton Estate during
the section 21 ragistration process. Erf 1998 is the proparty on which the offices of ASA are
situated. It is reflected in all of the sets of annual financial statements for the years ending 2005 to
2008 as being the property of ASA. The 2005 annual financial statements for ASA were drafted
when ASA was still a NPO Agsaciafion; for the 2008 financial year end the annual financial
statements were draffed for ASA after being incorporated as a section 21 company. In our report
we include full details regarding the legality of the transfar of the property.

The concem regarding the legality of the transfer of the propery does not affect ihs tegality of the
incotporation of ASA as a section 21 company in terms of the Companies Act.  Therefore the
members and the directors of the section 21 company are subject to the prescripts of the
Companies Act.

Legal and Administraiive Principies

in section 4 of the report we list the relevant legisiative, financial and administrative
documentation found during the physical searches of ASA's offices and elecironic searches of the
forensic images made of the computers found and that appearad fo be relevant for purposes of
our investigation.

17
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2.16.

2.18.

2.18.

2.20.

In respect of the period that ASA was sl operating as an NPO we found that the only applicable
governing documentation was the ASA Consfitution: 2004 and the ASA Gode of Conduct {Edition
September 2004). We only found one version of this ASA Code of Conduct and no other version
issued or edited at any time subsequent fo September 2004,

in our report we set out and discuss the relevant clauses and sections of the ASA Constitution:
2004,

In respect of the ASA Code of Conduct document we noted (hat the contents of this document
were virtually a copy of afl the sections confained in the NPC Act. |t appears therefore that this

. Code of Conduct was compifed as if ASA was ragistered as an NPO or al least as i it might have

been envisaged at some time that ASA would be registered as an NPO. As was already
explained above ASA was never registered as an NPO and from the evidence obtained during
the investigation it also appaars that ASA has never formally implemented and adopted this Code
of Conduct. For purposes of the investigation we therefore did not rely on the contents of the
ASA Code of Conduct as it was not implemented and applied by ASA.

In respect of the period subsequent to the registration of ASA as a saction 21 company, L.e. since
November 2008, we perused the following:

« The Companies Act

«  The Memorandum and Asticles of Associztion forming part of the ASA section 21 company
registration documents filed at the Registrar of Companies

¢ Case law pertaining to the fiduciary duties of direciors of companies

¢ The Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act, No 12 of 2004 (PCCA)

« The policies and procedures that could be found at ASA's offices and on the forensic images
of the computers found in the offices of ASA.

+  The minutes of the ASA Board and Management meetings which we were able to obiain.

In respect of the incorporation of ASA as a section 21 company we also conducted various
interviews with former and current ASA Board members.

In respect of the Companias Act we make specific referance in the full report to the following
sections:

= Seclion 204: Keeping of Minutes of mestings of companiss

¢« Seclion 225; Prohibition of tax free payments fo direciors

«  Section 226: rohibition of loans to, or security in connection with transaciions by,
directors and managers

v Section 242 Keeping of minutes of diraciors® and managers' meetings

¢ Seclion 245 Directors’ and managers' meetings: attendance ragister

e Seclion 246; Duty of auditor as to minuie books and attendance registar

«  Sesiien 250 Falsification of books and records

¢ Saection 251: False statement by dirsctors and othars

s Section 284: Duty of company to keep accounting records

«  Section Z86: Duty to make out annual financiat statements and fo lay them befora
annual general meeting

«  Seclion 287A: False or misleading reporis

¢ Seciion 285: Annual financial statements fo disclose foans to and security for benafit
of directors and managars

e Section 297 Annual financial statements to disclose direciors' emoluments and
pensions
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= Section 302: Duty of company to send annual financial statements o members and
Registrar
= Seclion 424; Liability of directors and others for fraudulent conduct of business

2.21. A summary of our main findings is sef out below.

Information obtained from the background searches parfonned

2.22.  We obtained the identity numbers and full names of the suspended ‘Board and Management

mernbers and where. applicable, the same details for their spouses. These details are included in
the table below: :

Kakata Atilee Maponyane 7
Christian Britz :
Kgashane Thomas Manoko
Magdalene Matthews L
Hendrick Lepela Mokganyetsi -
“Roger Denvor Adams '
Simon Dlamini
Laraine Daphne Lane -
| Godfrey Henry Hammers
Cecilia Lilly Motete
Humile Bogatsu
Moiatelo J Maiehapo-/
Molatelo Julius Maiehopo

Phiwe Sybie Miangeni-
Tsholetsane

1Y 1 VU U5 24u00 1 miorinwe Anvicey -

3 "i' IV T e N e e e

2.23.  We also performed background searches on additional individuais and entities identified during

the course of the investigation. These individuals and entities included Mr Sindari, Mr Ralph and
Zanandi Events Management CC.
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2.24

2.25.

The main finding of our investigation: The suspended Board and Mansgement
mermhars of ASA are accountalils for mismanagement, general neglect and the
reckless carrying on of the business of ASA

For purposes of this finding as well as the other findings listed below, it is refevant to reflect on the
financial status of ASA for the past financial years, specifically the period under review (2008 o
2008), Having regard to the numbers in the table below it is clear that the financial position of
ASA deterioraied significantly while under the management of the currently suspended Board and
Manragement membars:

e e e e e N R R e
- . = s
2005 403 763 n/a
2006 (436 360) -108.07%
2007 (930 479) 113.24%
2008 (4 084 004) -336.76%
2009 Not avalfable™ r/a ]

* {he audited financial statements were niot available for our review as the exiernal audit has not
been completed.

Based on the investigaiive procedures performed, we are of tha opinion that the Management
and Directors of ASA:

e faled to parform their duties in tespect of the management of ASA funds such as
sponsorship contracts

e failed to act in the best interest of ihe Company
» failed to adhere fo some of the provisions of the Companies Act

and that this substantially contributed to ASA's poor financial position,

Irregularities relating to the mismanagement, general neglact and the reckiess
carrying on of the business of ASA by the suspended ASA Board and
Management members

- NON-COMPLIANGE WITH FIDUCIARY DUTIES

We investigated a specific incident where Mr Chuene's actions in refafion to his previous personai
assistant, Mrs Thabile Makgoatiana (Mrs Mokgoaljana), appear to be in conirast with the fiduciary
duties associated with directors. As has aiready been pointed out above in paragraph 2.5 and 2.8
Mr Chuene is a registered Diractor of ASA,

In February 2007 Mrs Mokgoatjana's cellular phone fell in the water at home and was damaged.
As a result thereof Kirs Mokgoatiana requested a substitute celiular phone from the ASA office
and the cellular phone previously used by Ms Humile Bogatsu (Ms Bogatsu) was given fo her.
frs Mokgoatjana soon afterwards discavered intimate and private messages, which appeared to
have been sent by Mr Chuens fo Ms Bogatsu, on ihis celiular phone. Thess messages weare
indicative of a personal relationship between Ms Bogatsu and Mr Chirene,
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2.28.

2.2¢8.

2.30.

2.31.

it appears that the discovery of these messages by Mrs Mokgoatjana led io the conclusion of an
agreement between ASA and Mrs Mokgoatiana wherein Mrs Mokgoatjana undericok to “resign”
and not to disciose the confenis of the messages o any other party. Subsequently
Mrs Mokgoaljana "resigned” from ASA in July 2007 and was paid an amount of R&2 654 by ASA
on condition that she kept quiet about the contenis of the messages she found on the callular
phone,

in addition ASA paid amount of R7 752 to the lawyers of ASA - Wertheim Becker Inc - jor
sefvices related to the “Thabile Mokgoatiana” matisr,

Mr Chuene used a fotal of R90 406 of ASA’s funds - fo pay Mrs Mokgoatjana (R82 654) and
Wertheim Becker Inc (R7 752) — to persuade her to resign and to ensure thal she kept quiet
about the intimate relationship betwean Mr Chuene and Ms Bogatsu,

It is therefore clear that these funds were not used in furtherance of ASA's mandate - being the
development of athlstics - buf were in fact used to ensure that Mr Chuene's private affairs were
kept confidential. It is also important to note that these costs and the nature thereof were not
disclosed fo the ASA Board. These costs were also incurred during a period when ASA’s

* financial staus had deteriorated.

2.32.

o
3
Lo

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE COMPANIES ACT
IN RESPECT OF LOANS

We nofed that siaff foans had been made availabie to varous employess of ASA, including
Managers and Direclors. We considered the staff loan palicy as contained in both versions of the
ASA Staff Manual (Edition: November 2004 and Edition: August 2008), the Companies Act and
ASA Constitution. We also evaiuated and considered ASA’s financial status and the main
purpose of the Company,

Although it is clear from the registration documents who the registered Direciors are, it is not clear
which incumbent of a position in the ASA office structures couid be regarded as being e
“manager” or "officer” as defined by the Companies Act. In the adopted Gonstitution of 2008 it is
stated under "Definitions” that a CEO is the: “Chief Executfive Officer of ASA, or if no CEQ has
been appointed, then the person who is appoinled the General Manager by the Board”. Since
Mr Sindani's resignation in 2004 rno CEQ was appointed. Mrs Ferns acled as the General
Manager after she was appointed as such during the Annua! General Meeting held in April 20085,
Since she resigned in arch 2008, Mr Molatelo Malehopo acted as the General Manager until his
suspension in November 2008,

We are of (he view that loans provided fo Mr Chuens as a Director of ASA and Mr Maiehopo, in
his capacity as the General Manager, who is regarded as a CEC in temms of the 2008
Constitution, fall within the purview of Section 228 of the Companies Act, which deals with tha
“Prohibition of loans te, or security in connection with transactions by, directors and managers”.
The other managers and employaes of ASA, such as Mrs Tsholetsane and Ms Bogatsu who also
raceived staff foans are not deemed io be managers or officers as defined by the Companies Act.

During the investigation we found that in numerous instances ASA funds were given fo
Messrs Chuene and Malehopo as foans (including staff loans).
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2.37,

2.38.

2.39.

2.40.

241,
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The financial sfatus of ASA during the period ovar which these loans (including staff loans) were
granted, was such that it may be questioned whether thas loans were in ihe best inferest of the
Company.

Mr Chuene's sfaff foans

Initially Mr Chuene's staff loan transactions were accounled for in the general staff loan account
{8200/009) used for alf ASA employees. In 2007, the Finance Department of ASA opensd a trade
debtors account for Mr Chuene (account number CHU:100) on the fatter's instructions.

All Mr Chuene's staff loan transactions were transferred or reallocated to this trade debtors
account in order to “clear” Mr Chuene's staff loan transactions. This resulted in a small or
immaterial bafance being reflected on the general staff loan accounts in respect of Mr Chuene's
staff loan transactions, which created the impression that his staff foan transactions had been
settled. The fact that there was a small or immaterial balance should therefore not ba interpreted
to mean that Mr Chuene had paid off his staff loan transactions.

Ms Nervasha Maharaj (Ms Méharaj), a former ASA accountant, informed us that Mc Chuene
instructed the ASA accountants to apply the above accounting practice in respect of his staff loan
transactions as he did not want to feature in the ASA staif Joan accounts.

In view of the above information and the procedures performed during our investigation, it is clear
that there was an intentional misrepresentation refating to Mr Chuene's staff loan fransactions

‘which were presented as trade debtors in the ASA Financial Statemants for the period 2008 until

2008.

In this regard we also questioned the auditor of ASA, Mr Andre de Besr {Mr de Beer), on
S July 2010, regarding the manner in which the staff loans were recorded and reflected in the
annual financial statements. Mr de Beer confirmed lhat he was aware that the accountants
indeed reflected the staif loans as trade debiors in the ASA financial statements for the period
2008 until 2008. Mr de Beer also admitied that the recerding of the staff loans 2s frade debiors
and reflecting samie as such in the annuai financial statements was incorrect.

In terms of the provisions of the accounting statements |AS 1, 32 and 39, staff loan fransactions
cannot be recorded and presenied as trade debiors in the financial statements. Furthermore, the
financial statements did not include a note clearly indicafing that Mr Chuene's staff foan
trensactions were includad in the trade debtor balances, This wauld appear to constitute a fraud
perpetrated by Mr Chuene as the users of the financial stalements - such as the ASA Board of
Diractors - were deliberataly misled as to fhe frue state of affairs regarding sfaff loans provided io
Mr Chuene.

Section 295 of the Companies Act requires the disclosure of loans to Directors and Managers in

the annual financial statements. We establishad that ASA did not comply with this requirement In
respect of loans and staff loans mads to Mr Chuene and Mr Malehopo
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2.44.  Qur conglusion is supported by the following facts:

¢ in light of the provisions of the loan policy contained in the ASA Staff Manual, the
Companies Act and ASA’s Constitution, it would appear that irregular procasses were

followed in granting staff loans fo r Chuene;

* Mr Chuene did not cormplete the required ASA staff loan form. He would setle
personal expenses, using ASA funds and subsequently insfruct the ASA

accountants that these transactions shouid be recorded as staff loans;

& fn some instances private expenses were settled using the ASA corporate credit
card and then allocated to the respective staff foan accounts,

= Mr Chuene had more than one staff loan at a time.

" Mr Chuene did not repay his staff loan balances wilhin the prescribed time
period.

e We could not locate a trade debters accounting policy which governs the repayment
terms of the ASA accounts receivables in accordance with the prescribed accounting
principles

* Mr Chuene bypassed the guidelines relating fo the ASA staff loans by ensusing that his

loans were reflected under “trade debtors” in respect of which there is no payment

guideline/ policy in place af ASA.

« Considering the payment history noted during the review of Jir Chusne’s staff loan
transactions as well as an overall outstanding balance due by Mr Chuene io ASA in 2009,
(accumutated since 2008), amounting fo R8O 387.82, it wauld appear that Mr Chuene
either had no intention fo settle his ASA debtor account (represending his staff loan

transactions), or was unable o do so.

2.45.  In addition, wa were unable to locate any evidence that all Directors and all members of the
Company had consanted to the granting of the loans to Mr Chuene or allernatively that the ioans
were granted {o him in ferms of a speciaf resolution approving such ioans as required by section
226 of the Companies Act. Therefore these staff loans to the value of R183 454,72 {gross
amount) were, besides not being in the best interest of the Company, also made in direct

cantravention of the pravisions of the Companies Act.

Mr Malehopa's siaff loans

respect of the utilisafion of ASA funds which were subsequently recorded as staff loans,

exarmple of this practice is reflected in instances when privaie expenses were setfled with the
ASA corporate credit card and thereafter allocated to his staff loan account In addition,
Mr Malehopo had more than one staff loan a: a time and he did not repay his staff loan balances

within the prescribed fime period.

8. in view of the provisions of the loan policy contained in the ASA Staff Manuai, the Companies Act
and the ASA Constitution, it would appear that the loans granted io M Maitehopo were irregular.
This is mainly based on Mr Malehopo whe did not complete the required ASA stafl ioan form in
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2.48.

2.48.

We were unable o locate any evidence that all Directors and all members of the Company had
consented ta the graniing of loans to Mr Malehopo, subsequent to April 2008, or alternatively that

the loans were granted to him in terms of a special resolution approving such loans as required
by section 228 of the Companies Adt, '

Mr Malehopo still owes ASA R357.00 in respeci of loans made.

Other ASA employees

It would appear that iregutar processes were also followed in respect of loans made to the
following other ASA employees:

. s Bogatsu

. Mrs Phiwe Tshofetsane (Ms Tsholetsane)

v Mrs Linda Ferns (Mrs Ferns)

» Mr Malehopo (for the period prior fo 2008)

in that:

e They did not complete 2 staff loan appiication form,

e Private expenses were incurred prior to applying for a staff loan, paid with ASA funds,
and then allocated to their respective staff ioan accounts. The approval process
sfipitated in the Staff loan policy was accordingly bypassed.

¢ instances were noted whera these employees had more than cne staff loan at atime,

. Staff loans were not repaid within the prescribed fime period and the amounts of the
loans exceeded the prascribed limit of one third of their salary.

° All of the above were contrary {o the requirements of ihe ASA Joan policy.

Ms Bogatsu has to date not repaid an amount of R10 694,99 relating to staff loans. The staff
loans granted to Mrs Ferns and Mrs Tholetsane have been repaid in full.

SASCOC shauld consider the tax implications in respect of siaffioans advanced tc employess ag
paragraph 2{f) of the 7" Schedule of the Income Tax Act, Act 58 of 1952 {Income Tax Act)
provides that where a loan, exceeding R3 600, has been granted to an empioyee by his employer
and no interest is payable in respect of this loan, or interast is payable at a rate lower than the
official raie charged on the loan, the difference hetween the official rate and the interest paid
constitutes a fringe benefit and is taxable. During our invesiigation we determined that ihe staff
loans were granted interest free and aur perusal of the individuals' payslips did not reflect any
taxes paid in respect of this provision,
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C. THE ALLEGED INCORRECT ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES TO SPEGIFIC

2.52.

2.53.

EVENTS

During several interviews with ASA empioyees we were informad of various instances where
expenses were allocated to g specific event that did not refate to that event. Concerns were
therefore raised regarding the spacific allocations.

Due to the incorrect allocation of expenses in the General Ledger, one would need to perform a
complete reconstryction of the accounting records of ASA for the perfiod under raview based on
the supporting documents to obtain assurance that the General Ledger and the allocation of
expenses was a true reflection of the actual expenditure incurred. We recommend that SASCOC
consider the performance of such exercise in order {0 get a complete picture of the total extent of
the irreguarities.

D. THE IRREGULARITIES PERTRAINING TO PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

2.54,

2.55.

2.56.
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2.61.

AND PAYROLL RELATED EXPENSES

As part of the alfegations pertaining to the mismanagement of ASA funds and also faking into
account the financial stafus of ASA, we investigated the bonus payments made to ASA
employees during the period under review.

We aiso investigated the vehicles sold for RT fo ASA employees.

Mr Chuene and his position af ASA

According to ASA’s registration documentation and in particular the CM3 form, filed at CIPRO,
Mr Chuene was appointed as a director of ASA on 7 Nevember 2008,

Mr Chuens was the President af ASA but to date we have not been able o focate any information
pertaining to his duties, responsibifities and the benefits associated with his appointment as
President of ASA.

We obtained copies of his salary advices and the information reflected thereon creates the
imeression that he was an employee of ASA. His employee number was raflected as 4, although
his position on his payslip was jeft blank.

in the absence of an employment confract or any femuneration agreemant betwaen Mr Chuens
and ASA we can conciude that Mir Chuene's behaviour and corresponding remuneration, created
the impression that he was an employee of ASA,

Direclors and Management of ASA possibly acted in contravention of the Common law principies
such as acfing in the best inferest of the comparny and with due care and skill, when permitting
bonuses and increases to be paid to the emplovess while ASA's financial status was deteriorating

If we consider tha financial years from 2006 to 2009, ail employees consistently received

increases and bonuses (13th/14th cheques) every vear daspife lhe fact that the Company'’s
financial position continually deferiorated.

25



South African Sporis Confederation ang Clympic Commitiee (SASCOC)
Reporl: Forensic audit and invesligation into alleged irregularities al ASA
Private & Confideniial

13 August 2010

2.63.

2.54.

2.65,

2.86.

Commeon law requires that directors and management must act in the best inferest of the
Company and in ferms of section 424 of the Companies Act, reckless trading conducted by the
directors of the company could render the directors personally jiable for subsequent losses
suffered by the company.

We are of the opinion that the increases and bonuses granted were indeed unjustified and paid at
a stage that the Company could not afford to provide these bensfits. We found no evidence of
performance appraisals completed for any of the ASA employees and upon which the increases
and bonuses were granted.

Payment of & R150 000 performance bonus fo Mr Chuene in November 2007

According fo Mr Chuene’s pay slip for December 2007 he received an “Incentive Bonus® of
R150 000. Mrs Ferns explained that this R150 000 payment was a performance bonus that was
approved only by the ASA Finance Committee and not the fuli ASA Board. Mrs Ferns also
provided us with a copy of a letter she wrote to Mr Chuene on 15 November 2007, subsequent to
being informed by Dr Dlamini on 5 November 2007 that a performance bonus of R150 000 should
be paid to Mr Chuens. In this letter Mrs Ferns recorded her discomfort in respect of the
instruction due fo the fact that no prior written authorlty existed fo execute such payment.
According to Mrs Ferns this was in contravention of ASA's financial policies and procedures.

During the interview with Mr Sticks Stiglingh (Mr Sfiglingh) he confirmed that he was part of the
ASA Finance Committee that resolved that a R150 00G performance bonus be paid to
Mr Chuene. However Mr Stiglingh stated that he was opposed fo the R150 000 performance
bonus but was overruled by the other members of the ASA Finance Committes, He stated that
the previous year a performance bonus of R50 000 was paid to Mr Chuene and he suggested
that an increase of approximately 10% on the previous year's bonus would be reasonable, He
was uncomfortable with the proposed R150 000 performance bonus because no performance
evaluation was performed in respect of Mr Chuene's performance. Mr Stiglingh did not know
what Mr Chuene had accompiished o warrant a bonus of R150 000. He agreed with Mrs Ferns
that such a bonus had to be approved by the Board which was not done prior to the payment
thereof,

The registered Memorandum of Association of ASA states infer alia that a bonus can only be paid
to any officer or servant of ASA if such payment is made in good faith of reasonabis remunaration
or to any membar of ASA in refurn for any services actually rendered. [n addition section 21.11 of
the ASA Canstifution requires that the Board control all fnancial affairs of ASA.

This payment of R150 000 to Mr Chuene accordingly appears to have been irreguiar.

Payment of R50 000 as a foan fo Mr Chuene in Avgust 2007

Mr Chuene was granted a loan of R50 000 on 15 August 2007. We found no evidence of Board
approval for the saild [oan which was subsequently repaid on 22 April 2008.

The fact that no Board apprevat was obtained for this loan, is in direei contravention of

section 226 of the Companies Act. Therefore the payment of this loan to Mr Chuene was
unlawiful,
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The three vehicies sold to the employees for R1

We established that according to the minutes of a Special ASA Execulive Board Meeting held on
11 September 2004, it was decided that the ASA company  vehicles driven by
Mr Botes (ASA Board Member at the time), Mrs Ferns and Mr Chuene respectively, be sold to
them for R1 each.

Although no mention was made in these minuies, it was understoad from our interviews with
Ms Reddy and Mrs Ferns that the vehicles were sold for R1 each because of the fact that they
forfeited their half yearly performance bonuses. From our investigation we did not find evidenca
that they received further bonuses during 2004,

We noted that a fourth vehicle (other than the three vehicles mentioned above) was also
mentioned in the allegations relating fo the vehicles sold for R1. In this regard Mr Mehlo
Hiabangane (Mr Hiabangane), an ASA employee in the Events Department, informed us that he
used fo drive this vehicle, (a Nissan Hardbedy) during 2004. He also indicated that he
understood that this vehicle was the property of the Soweto Half Marathon Trust and that it was
apparently eventualiy sold in 2006. We, however, obtained eNafis records pertaining fo this
vehicle which indicate that ASA is In fact still the registered owner thereof.

Our findings in respect of the sale of the 3 vehicles can be summarsised as follows:
. They were in fact sold o the thres above menfioned amployees for R{ each,

o In the minutes referred to above it was stated that the purchase price of the vahicles
dariven by Mr Botes and Mrs Farns have bean paid in full and that these vehicles were
worth R40 000 and R20 000, respectively, From the financial docurmentation obtained
from the Finance Department we established that the monthiy salaries of Mr Botes and
Mrs Ferns were R12 482 and R15 621 respectively. This means that if the value of the
vehicles received is compared to the monthly salary Mr Botes received a benefit of 320%
and Mrs Ferns received a benefif of 128% calculated against their monthly salaries.

e In general, based on the evidence obtained, it appears that ASA employees ware antifled
toa 13" and 14" cheque (performance bonuses),

e Even if it is accepted that they (Mrs Ferns and WMr Botes) received these benefits bacause
they had forfeifed their half yearly performance bonuses, it is clear that these beneafits
significantly exceeded their respective monthly salaries. 1{ is our understanding of the
performance evaluation documentation that the normat maximum amount {o be approved
as a performance bonus for ASA employees should not exceed 100% of an employes's
monthly salary.

“ The amounts stated in the minutes (i.e. R40 000 and R20 000) as the vaiue of the cars,
appear [o be understated and the correct market values for these vehicles (both Honda
Ballade 160i Vtect) as per the Mead and McGrouther guide, at the fime were in fact
approximately RE82 700 each.
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a In the minutes referred fo above no reference was made {o the value of the vehicle driven

by Mr Chuene. From ihe financial documentation obtained from the Finance Department

we established that Mr Chuene's monthly salary af the fime of receiving the vehicle was

J R14 172, According to the Mead MecGrouther guide, we established that Mr Chuene's

vehicle at the time had a trade in value of approximately R121 900. This means that i

the value of 1he vehicle received is compared to the monthly salary Mr Chuene recaived
an additional benefit of 860%.

i . . It is clear that this benefit was far in excess of 100% of his monthly salary to which he

I may have been enfilled.

!

: 2 Despite a vehicle being soid to Mr Chuens in terms of a resolution taken by the ASA

! ' Board during a Special Executive Board Meeting on 11 September 2004, it appears that
C he subsequently falled fo transfer the vehicle into his private name and we couid not
identify same through our eNatis searches,

e We perused financial doecumentation pertaining to the payment of half yearly bonuses to
. ASA staff for the year 2004. From this documentation we noticed that Mrs Ferns and
: Mr Botes did not receive half yearly performance bonuses.

» From our review of the payslips for Mr Botes and Mrs Ferns, we could not find evidence
that these employees were indivicually taxed on this additional beneflt,

. Despite the fact that the vehicles wera transferred into the employees’ respective names,
and thus were no longer regarded as ASA property, ASA continued fo maintain these
vehicles. For example, ASA confinued fo pay for the services and insurance of
kr Chuene’s vehicle, examples of which are contained In the table below.

T DESETn

18/12/08 Mercedes Benz Sandion

15/02107 Mercedez Benz Sandton 6 013,191
i 20107/07 Mercedes Benz Sandion 2 352.52
v 16/08/07 Mercedes Benz Rosebank - L Chuene 5014.55

Tofal ' . 15 219.33

' ’ Due to the allocation of expensas included in the General Ledger not bsing dons
properly, and sometimes insufficient datails included in the Genaral Ledger, we could not
quantify the full amount of the maintenance expenses paid for Mr Chuene and Mrs Ferng'
vehicles,
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. THE ABUSE OF CORPORATE CREDIT CARDS AND PETROL CARDS

As indicated above, ASA was making a financial loss during the period under review. Yet during
this same period an amaunt of more than R4 million was spent on the carporate credit and petrol
cards.

Our review of the corporate credit and petrot card statements raises the question whether these
expenses were incurred with the best interest of the and solely for the purposes and objectives of
ASA. Many of the expenses were in respect of entertainment at sxpensive restauranis and in
some instances a large quantity of expensive alcoholic beverages were purchased. An example
of such an expense was incurred by Mr Chuene on Thursday 14 Movamber 2008 at 13:50 at the
Tsunami Seafood Emporium 18 Johnny Walker Black drinks were constumed by two guests.

fn addition fo the excessive use of the corporate credit and petroi cards, we also noted expenses
that were incurred on the comporate credit and pefrol cards to the value of R39 138.60
(R34 742,35 on corporate credit cards and R4 398.25 on corporate petrol cards) during the
December holiday period when the offices were traditionally closed, The ASA Staff Manual
specifically indicates that no business related expenditure may be incurred, whilst the Company is
closed (as a result of public holiday / year-end closure). It appeared on the face of it that thase
expenses may have been of a personal nature and not in the best interast of ASA, as no planned
meetings or events were identified for the refevant period.

When taking the above findings info account, it can de deduced that certain directors and other
empioyees Issued with corporate credit and petrol cards, failed to apply the necessary caution or
care in accruling these expenses.

From our interviews with Board Membaers, it became. clear that the Board was not aware and were
aiso not informed of the excessive spending by the ASA management during this financially
difficult time. 1t must also be reiterated that as directors and managers of ASA it was their duly
and responsibility that they shouid have exercised caution in their spending due to the financial
positicn of the company.

From our review of lhe expenses incurred through the usage of the corporate credit cards, the
business nature of a number of trangactions was questionable. It would appear that some of
these expenses seam i¢ have been incurred pursly becauss it was convenient fo do se and if is
also possible that the expenditure might have been for private purposes. However, due io a lack
of supporting documentation and reconciliations and further supporting evidence regarding
whether these expsnses were incurred as a result of business events, dufles or responsibiiities,
we cannot quantify the expenses which ware of & personal raturs.

If indeed the expensas incurred on the corporate cradit and petrol cards were of a personal
nature, this peses a dual problem in that:

® Firstly the staff loan application procedurss were not followed

@ Secondly many of the staff loans were never repaid as prescribed in the repayment
terms, which may be indicafive of an intention not to repay or an inabilily to do so.
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2.81. Based on our analysis above we idantified the persons, mainly management and directors, who
may have been abusing the system, as:

e Ms Bogatsu
& Mrs Ferns

. Mr Malehopo
# br Chuene

F. EXCESSIVE CELLULAR PHONE EXPENDITURE

2.82. The review of the cellular phone accounis and the seifiement thereof indicated that no
reconciliation or allocations of cost were performed by ASA prior to sefiling these accounts with
the service provider,

2.83. It should be noted that our prefiminary finding is that the cell phone expenses amounting fo
RB70 161 appeared fo be excessive, taking infc account the financially difficult position ASA was
in and the fact that controis such as proper reconciliations were lacking.

2.84.  The lack of reconciliation and altocation of cost make i difficutt to determine the frue nature of the
cell phone expensas and whsather these expenses were incurred in the best inlerest of the
Company and were business refated.

&, EXCESSIVE HONORARIUMS PAID TO BOARD MEMBERS

2.85.  During our sorutiny of the financial documentation kept in the Finance Deparment at ASA we
found & copy of a document detailing honorarium payments made to ASA board members for the
period 19 March 2008 to 17 July 2009

2.88.  We nofed that there was a substantial increase in the amount paid since March 2009, Prior to this
date the sfandard honorarium payment ranged from R947 fo R966 per person per meeting.

2.87. |t appears that from 19 March 2008, ASA Board Members received an honorarium payment of
R5 000 per ASA meeting attended by the respective ASA Board Member.

2.85.  During the investigation we obtained two sets of minutes for an ASA Board meating thal was heid
on 13 March 2008. The first set appears to be only a draft as it still contains speliing errors and
some aspects were not minuted whereas they were minuted in the second sef. During our
interviews with Mr Chris Britz (Mr 8ritz) and Mr Godfrey Hammers (Mr Hammers) (ASA directors
who were present during the 13 March 2009 Board meeiing), they confirmed {hat the second set
s indeed the correct set that was sent to them as the final version of the minutes of the meeting.

2.89.  In this regard, we reviswed the second set of minutes and noted that in section 7 of tha minutes it
was stated that Mr Malehopo reported that ASA's daficit had been accumulated over the years
and that this situation was never reported to the Board. The income statement of the annual
financial statements for the year-end 2008 indicated a deficit of R4 064 004
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Despite the poor financial position, and the fact that the Board had been informed thereof, the
Board on 13 March 2009 resolved that the following recommendations bhe implementad with
immediate effect;

¢ Agenaral salary increase of ten percent for all employees of ASA
*  New director's emolument for 2009 as recommended by the remuneration committee

Section 12.2 of the minutes stated that Dr Diamini propesed that: “the President’s emolumeni
should have benefits because the one presenfed was minimal”. 1 was further recorded that this
proposal was supported by the Board.

Justification for the proposal in section 12.2 was provided by Mr Thomas Manokg (Mr Manoko)
{Chairperson of the ASA Finance Committee) who explained that these costs had been budgeted
for since most of the consultants had been off-loaded from the budgst,

During discussions with Mr Hammers and Mr Britz, they confirmad that it was resclved that
Mr Chuene’s honorarium be increased to R36 000, that the director's emoluments be increased
frorn R00 to RS 000G per meeting and that the ASA staff's salaries be increased by ten percent,

Both Mr Hammers and Mr Britz confirmed that the poor financial position of ASA was discussed
during this meeting. They also confirmed that it was explained by Mr Manako that the services of
the consultants including Mr Sindani's, had been terminated and therefore there were sufficient
budgeted funds avaiiable for the increases of Mr Chuene's honorarium, the director's emoluments
and the staff salaries increases,

Our review of Mr Chuene's pay slips indicated that his salary in fact increasad from R49 067.40,
in February 2009, to R35 006 in March 2009,

in light of the fact that it was also reported in the minutes of the 13 March 2009 Board meeting
that the Board of ASA was trying to address, these increased honorarium paymenis ware not in
the besl inierast of the Company.

We noted during our search and subsequend inspection of the company records that there were

no attendance registers in respect of dirsctors and managers mestings as required by section
245 of the Companiss Act,
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4. EXCESSIVE PAYMEKTS TO MR BANELE SINDARN!

2,88, Our investigation into the employment of Mr Sindani reveaiad that ASA paid z fotal net amaunt of
R1 762 682.79 to Mr Sindani in his capacily as strategic consultant. This amount was paid as
follows:

e R488 932.78 via payroil
« R1262 750.00 in respect of invoices Mr Sindani submitied fo ASA.

2.89.  During our interview with Mr Sindani he informed us that he was initizlly appoinied as CEQ of
ASA in August 2007, and then Mr Chuene unifaterally changed his appointment to that of a
stralegic consuitant approximatety one month iater. This oceurred during September 2007, but
was backdated to 16 August 2007. Mr Sindani had no formal employment contract, only an
employment felter.

2,100. Mr Sindani informed us that his appointment initialfy as CEQ was based on a presentation he
had made tfo the Board during June 2007. He confirmed that Mr Chuene arranged {his
presentation on his behalf and the position of CEQ was not advertised.

2.101. We were unable to obiain evidence thaf a recruttment process had been foilowed in respect of the
appoiniment of Mr Sindani as CEO/Slrategic Consuitant of ASA.

2,102, According to Mr Sindani's he was appointed by the Board upon the recommendation of
Mr Chuene and based on the presentation he had made io the Board.

2.103. During our inferview with Mr Sindani he-was vague regarding direct questions in respect of the
duties and specific deliverables he was required fo perform, and meraly stated that he attended
meetings and drafted several strategic documents. We obtained a few strategy documents which
appsared (o have been prepared by Mr Sindani, but these documents were on the face of i
generic and did not appear to hold any significant strategic value ic ASA.

2.104. ABA did not appear to have received value commensurate with the remuneration paid {o
Mr Sindani and the expense was confirmed by the auditors in the Management report for the year
ended 2007, as a reasen for the deficit suffered by ASA during 2007.

2.105. Mr Sindani admitted to us that; “Ais salary was probably excessive given the lime he spent on
ASA’s operalions as he definitely did not spend 8 hours a day theraon”,

2,183, He however justffied his salary by indicating that he was willing {o perform these duties and would
have started doing so in January 2008 in terrms of his verbal confract, but Mr Chuene preventad
him from doing so.

2.167. The Board Members we interviewed wara not awars of the extent of Mr Sindanfs remunieration.

2.108. The lack of a transparent appointment process, appropriate consultation and planning in

conjunction with the Board, the substantial remuneration package earnsd by Mr Sindani and the
apparently insignificant deliverablas provided by him, create the concern that the relafionship
batwaen Mr Chuene and Mr Sindani may not have been arm’s length as part of a standard
smployment relationship.
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We recommend that this refationship be investigated by the South African Police Service i order
to ascertaln whether it was in fact an arm's length relationship.

Mrs Ferns indicated that Mr Sindani was alse provided with an amouni of USD20 000 to "lobby”
key individuals in Japan during August 2007 to vote for Mr Chuene's election to the IAAF Cauncil.
Ms Ferns confirmed that these funds were given fo Ms Bogatsu who was fo give them fo
Mr Sindani. No further details regarding the value added fo ASA or the necessity for Mr Sindani
to go on the trip to Japan could be obtained. Mr Sindani denied ever receiving these monies.

It appeared from our review of the ASA accounting records that the USD20 000 was accounied
for against the Master Currency Expense account. No recornciliation was subseqguently submitied
by either Mr Sindani or Mr Chuene detaifing how the USD20 000 was spent.

APPOINTMENT OF AND PAYMENTS MADE TO SEQUEL EXPERIENCE

During our invasfigation we compared the entities in which the suspended Management and
Board members had business interests, with the list of suppiliers /sarvice providers fo ASA. The
resuits of our comparison revealed one instance where a manager of ASA, Mrs Tsholetsane, had
a business inferest in a service provider, The service provider appeared on the 2008 Pastel {ist of
ASA suppliers. The details of the entity is fllustrated in the tables below:

SEQ100

Sequel Experience

SEQUEL EXPERIENCE
PHIWE TSHOLETSANE
7910010424088

. Qur investigation info the ownership of Sequel Exparience CC (Sequel} revealed that

Mrs Tsholetsane is the sole member of Sequel which was registered on 13 August 2007.
Sequel's office address is the same as Mrs Tsholetsana's physical address namely no 7 Tuscap
Manor Four, Wilgeheuwe!, Roodepoort, 1724.

t. Mrs Tsholetsane informed us that ASA operated its procurement process on a 3 guote system.

the line manger (in the Marketing and Events division), in this regard Mrs Tsholetsane, wouid
provide 3 quotles to the General Manager {Mrs Ferns or Mr ialehope) and then upen approval of
the selecied quote, appoint the relevant suppiier,

s5. it appeared {hat Mr Malehopo approved the majority of the pburchase orders submitted by

Mrs Tsholetsane In respect of services fo be rendered by Sequel during 2009, Substantial
amounts were paid {o Sequel during 200§ as indicated in the {able below.
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2,116, We couid not locate any documeritation indicating that a proper of regular procurement process

o

i

was followed in respect of the transactions with Sequel Experience. We were unable fo conclude
if the necessary three quote system was applied as we could only obtain cne quote in respect of
the first payment to Sequet Experience. Mrs Ferns advised us that she aflowad Mes Tsholetsane
to sefect the most appropriate quote as part of the empowering process of line managers in ASA,
Mrs Ferns trusted her as an employee and authorised the single guote presented to her without
requesting and/or perusing the other two quotes.

A quantification of payments made to Sequel in respect of services rendered fo ASA during the
period under review is iliustrated in the table below:

Sequel Experience SEQ100 . 498 475.22
Total 623 475.22

2.118. Mrs Tsholetsane occupied a management position at ASA and as such had a fiduciary duty

N

A

—_

_I\)

118,

towards ASA o disclose her interest in a supplier dealing with ASA,  We could not locate a
register cantaining the declaration of interest as requirad by the ASA Constitulions and therefore
could not establish whether other personnefl of ASA adhered to this requirement.

Mrs Tsholetsane, in any event admitted that she did not disclose this interest ta ASA bacause

“she:

» Did ot think it was necessary to disclose this

e Was not aware of the requirements of the ASA Constitution

“ Is not familiar with the ferm "Conflict of Inferest’

@ Did not want people to say that Sequel was selected due to the fact that it was her

company and that she unfairly benefited through ASA making use of Sequel's services.
Mrs Tsholetsana's behaviour was not in the best interesis of her emptoyer and she appears o
have committed fraud in that she intentionally failed to disclose her intersst in Sequel and her
actions may also fall within the ambit of section 10 of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt
Activitias Act, No 12 of 2004,

We were recently informed thal #Mrs Tsholetsane resigned from ASA, during June 2010.
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There were concemns surrounding the allowances and per diems which Mr Chuene recsived from
the IAAF in his capacity as IAAF member for attending meetings on behalf of the |AAF and
whether ASA also reimbursed or settled some of the expenses Mr Chuene incurred in his
capacity as IAAF member,

We could not find relevant 1AAF policies during the searches of the ASA offices and the forensic
images made of the computers and server at ASA. We also requested such policies from fhe
IAAF but were not provided with any relevant IAAF policies in respect of per diem payments.

We noted that for the period 2007 to 2009 Mr Chuene received an amount of R264 463.95 from
ASA and R199 975.95 from the IAAF as perdiem payments for the same events,

It was noteworthy that Mr Chuene's presence in respect of his JAAF meeting atlendances was
often required for a shorter period of time but that he seemingly elecied to prolong his stay on
ASA's account, We could not obtain any evidence confirming a business reason for having to
prolong his stay,

Although we did not obtain a format policy prohlbiiing the acceplance of duplicate per diem
paymenis, it appeared that Mr Chuene, as a director of ASA, did not act in the best interest of
ASA when accepting duplicate per diem payments.

We recommend that it should be established whether the IAAF would have been prepared to pay
per diems to Mr Chuene for the same events that he received per diems from ASA.

We could not obtain evidence that Mr Chuene paid any taxes on the per diems received from the
IAAF. This point is discussed further in the per diems section below.

PER DIEMS

Due to the nature of ASA’s business activities certain management and siaff wers reauired to
attend events out of town. This entitied them to a per diem allowance and we reviewed the
information we were abile fo abtain in this regard.

. During electronic searches conducted of the tomputer imagses made, we only located two ASA

Travel and Accommodation Policies on the scanned image of the ASA server's hard drives.
These documents were titled respectively:

e "The ASA Travel Accommodation Car Hire & Subsjstence Poiicy - Version1-2002"
(Version 1) and

o “The ASA Travel, Accommodation, Car Hire & Subsistence Palicy - Version 2-2067"
{Version 2)

Apart from these lwo policies we did not find any cther document relafing fo travel and
accommodation or any recent per diem adjusiments.
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- During the investigation the ASA accouniants informed us that they were not sure whether there

was in fact a formal travel policy in place which deierminad and stipulated the terms and
conditions under which par diem payments could be made. They informed us that normally they
would receive the documentation pertaining to per diem requests from Mr Wilfred Daniels
(M Daniefs) or Mr Thahiso Moletsane {Mr Moletsans), the ASA team managers, Mr Malehopo,
the General Manager and Ms Bogatsu from Head Office. These documents contained all the
details regarding the per diem allowances required,

We discussed the per diem allocation process with Mr Moletsane who confirmed that during his
tenure at ASA he wouid draft budgets for iniernational athletics events. Mr Meletsane stated that
as part of this procass he would obtain detaiis regarding the per diem allocation in respect of
athletes, team management members, team doctors and coaches from Mr Malehopo.

Mr Moletsane also stated that on numerous occasions he requested a copy of the relevant policy
documentation from Mr Malehepe in order to pian and draft the budget in respect of per diem
payment allocation fo the athlelics team. Mr Malehopo never gave him any relevant document
containing details pertaining to per diem payments and instead.just informed him what the per
diem allocation details per event should be, assuring him that these details were correct,
Mr Moletsane informed us that jt appeared to him that there was no formal policy established and
implemented in respect of per diem payments,

During our interview with Mrs tokgoaliana she informed us that during her tenure at ASA {here
was never a formally adepted poiicy regarding per diem allowances and that Mr Chuene normaily
dictated what the per diem allowance should be in respect of his foreign travels,

During the investigation we perused all the "Accommaodation” and "Per Diem” files keptin the ASA
Finance office for the pariod 2007 to 2009, In this regard we specifically searched for alf
documentary evidence pertaining to all per diems paid to Mr Chuene, Mr Malehopo and
Ms Bogatsu,

In respect of Mr Chuens, Mr Malehopo and Ms Bogatst we found supporting documentation
indicating that the following amounts refating to per diems were paid to them during the periad
2007 to 2008:

¢ Mr Chuene R755 935.24
= Mr Malehopo R 86 203.69
¢« Ms Bogaisu R102 898.49

Total R845 837,42

- Given that there appeared to have been no formal poiicy in respecl of per dism payments wa

were unable o make any findings whether any of the per diem payments made 0 the three
individuals mentioned above was irregular and/or unreasonable.

- The only clear exception was the per diem payment oblained by s Bogaist when she was part

of the Team Management hat accomparded the South African Team fo the !AAF World
Championships held in Berlin, Germany during 15 to 23 August 2009, The details of this per
diem payment are discussed in paragraph 7.3.385 below,

In view of the worsening financial position of ASA during the period of 2007 io 2009 when a deficit

was recorded for each year, a total amount of R945 037 42 paid as per diem paymenls appears
to be significant.
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We reviewed the pay siips Mr Chuene, Mr Malehopo and Ms Bogatsu for the peried 2007 {0 2000
and found no per diem payments reflecied as income thereon. These per diem paymanis were
also not reflected as income on the IRP 5 Tax forms kept by ASA in respect of these employees
for the same period,

The management report for the year ended 2007 stated that benefits such as the per diems had
to be within the fimits prescribed in the tax legistation, aliernatively the recipient was required pay
additicnal taxes on the amounts in excess thereof. A note on this report was recorded as foliows:

“Noted: Will be implemented with immediafe effect. {T3's will be issued for 2007

It is our understanding that the subsistence allowancss paid to employees who fravel overseas
for business purposes which is aliowed in terms of the provisions of the income Tax Act (section
8(1)(c)), can be summarisad as follows:

= 2007 - USD 190 per day
* 2008 - USD 200 per day
© 2009~ USD 215 per day

Based on the Income Tax Act any amount above the allowed limits indicated above were taxable
in the hands of the individuat recelving such allowance.

Mr Chuene was the only employee from our review of the subsistence aflowance {hat
continuously between 2007 and 2008 received a subsistence allowance greater than the amount
altowed by the Income Tax Act. As indicated above, we could not obtain any evidence that the
excess subsistence allowance received were taxed in the hands of the individual. From our
quantification, of which the detail is included in Annexure 112, the following summary is provided
for subsistence allowances received hy Mr Chuene:

22
2007 USD 3c0 USD 180 Ush 110 R81 774
{ 2008 USD 300 UsD 200 USD 100 RE5 770
USD 300 USD 215 Ush 85 R47 864

2.148,

As indicated above we could nof obtain any evidence that Mr Chuene paid any texes as
prescribed in the Income Tax Act’s on the per diems received from the JAAF. in total Mr Chuene
received USD 53 500 as per diem payments from the IAAF for the period 2006 to 2000, Due fo
Insufficient information we could not defermine the amount in excess of that prascrihed in the
income  Tax Acl and on  which he would  be fiable to  have paid  tax
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OTHER UNUSUAL OPERATIONS AND TRANSACTIONS

Managsment report issues

We noted that various issues were highlighted in the ASA Auditor's Managerment Reports on a
recurring besis, which it appears the ASA Manageman! failed fo address properly or at all, This
was evidence of a consistent tack of commitment to apply proper procedures, policies, controls
and create management accountability in accordance with sound governance principles.

Review and comparison of cash book transactions and corresponding bank stafements

During this review we:

® Ensured that all ASA bank accounts had been identified and the information obtained was
discussed and confirmed with ASA's auditors.

e Ensured that all ASA bank statements were available for review

e Compared Cashbook transactions for the period under review io the fransactions

reflected in the corresponding bank statament.

We noted an unusual payment relating o a debit order on behalf of Mr Chuene, which was
processed from what appears to be a “non-active” ASA bank account, a Nedbank account with
account number: 1468 104 407, (No other transactions were processed on this Neadbank
account).

- in total, since 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2009, an amount of R4 235.14 was deducied

from the ASA non-active bank account in favour of Mr Chuene. This was done in ten instalments
of R1212.64 each and two instalments of R1 054.47 each,

The following description was provided in the cash book for these transactions: “Salaries -
Provident Fund ~ . Chuene”. As we did not have & copy of any agresment betwsen ASA and
Nir Ghuene, we did not know whather this benefit formed part of his tofal remuneration package.
However, even if it did, such payments to directors must, in terms of section 297 of the
Companies Act, be reflacted in the annual financial statements of the company. Our perusal of
the annuaf financial statements did not reveal that such payments had been recorded.

- We were unabie io obtain a satisfactory explanation for this debit arder, whether it had bean

approved appropriafely and/or whather ASA was obliged fo pay this amount on beha!f of
Mr Chuene.

Honorariums paid (o volunteers

- We investigated the honorariums ASA paid to volunieers used during events. Whils we did not

find any evidence of irregularities we recomnmend that proper confrois and policies are
documented in order to standardise and record the selaction process and subsequent conlrois in
this regard,
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Insurancs

It recently came to our attention that there were coheerns regarding insurance paid by ASA on
behalf of athiefes.

Duwiing the investigation we discussed this matier with Mr Richard Stander (Mr Stander) and
Mr Tshifhiwa Magogodel (Mr Magogodel), Mr Stander is currently the CEO of Boland Athletics
and was requested by SASCOC fo manage the affairs of ASA in the interim on their behalf.
Mr Magogodel is the current ASA finance accountant who was appoinied when Ms Reddy
resigned in March 2010,

Mr Stander and Mr lMagogodel informed us that prior to Oclober 2009 ASA made use of an
insurance broker, Mr Keith Eardisy (Mr Eardley) of Berkshire Solutions Insurance & Finance {a
registered financial services provider) to manage the ASA insurance policy at Mutual & Federal,
In September 2009 ASA terminated its contract with Mr Eardley and appointed Hereford Risk
Solutions {Pty) Ltd (HRS Insurance) as its new brokers. HRS Insurance acted as ASA’s brokers
in respect of the insurance poficy at Mutual & Federal for the peticd of September 2009 to
December 2009,

in December 2009 Mr Ray Maii (Mr Mali), the interim ASA administrator appointed by SASCOC,
terminated the services of HRS Insurance and re-appointed Berkshire Solutions as ASA's
insurance brokers.

We were informed that during an event every athlste participates with a registration number
alfocated to them personafly. This number is finked fo an insurance component amounting to
approximately R6 per annum per athlete.

Mr Stander informed us that 10 athletes instituted claims based on this insurance during the
period of October 2009 to December 2009. When ASA considered these claims they were
advised by the insurance broker, Mr Eardley, that he did not represent ASA. These athletes’
claims were subsequently directly seftled by ASA and not through HRS Insurance. ¥r Stander
informed us that af the time he was led to believe that ASA had io settfe these claims as ASA had
not paid their insurance premiums to Mutual & Federal for the last quarter of 2009,

We aiso contacted Mr Eardiey who confirmed Mutual & Federal informed him in September 2009
that ASA had terminated his services and appointed a new insurance broker. Mr Eardly also
coniirmed that he was re-appoinied in December 2009 when Mr Mali signed a new broker
authorisation agresment with Berishire Solutions.

. We requested Mr Magogode! to search for all the relevant financial supporting documentation in

the ASA finance office in respect of all insurance payments made to Mufual & Faderal,
Mr Magagodel subsequently found four quarterly statements from Mutual & Federal covering the
period January 2009 to December 2008, Mr Magogode! also found attached io these quarterly
statements supporiing bank documentation,

These documents indicated that ASA had paid all their quarterly premiums of R120 000 as
required and implied that ASA’s athietes ware in fact insured af all times during 2008.
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[t is important to note that in November 2009 the ASA Board and specific ASA smployees were
suspended and an interim administrator was appointed. it appears thal during the period of
September 2009 to December 2009 when ASA terminated Berkshire Solution's services and then
re-appointed Berkshire Solutions there rmay have been a miscommunication between the two
insurance brokers and the new interim administrators ai ASA.

it is recommended that the interim administraters take up this matter with representatives of
Mutual & Federat in respect of the claims ASA paid fc the athletes. It appears that because ASA
had in fact duly paid afl the required insurance premiums fo Mutual & Federat the athietes' claims
pald, can possibly be recovered frorn them.

Withdrawals from the ASA bond account:

The review of financial information received from ASA indicated that two withdrawals were made
from the ASA Nedbank bond account (Home Loan Account numbsr 814 304 084 681 ).

The details of these withdrawals are as follows:

2007 1700 000

2009 200 000

Total 1 800 000 | :

Mrs Ferns informed us that the withdrawal made in 2007 was made folfowing an instruction from
Mr Chuene,

Ms Reddy informed us that the second withdrawal made in 2009 was made following an
instruction from Mr Malehopo.

The ASA Accountanis confirmad during interviews that these funds were withdrawn and
transferred into ASA’s main bank account, (Nedbank account number: 1469 154 228), in order to
enable ASA fo at pay operatiohal sxpenses such as safaries, dus o a cash flow shorfage., We
did not identify any repayment of these withdrawals inio the Bond account.
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Expenditure incurred by Ms Bogatsu during the IAAF World Championships heid in Beriin,
Germany during 15-23 August 2009

We were informed by SASCOC that Ms Bogatsu was part of the Team Management that
accompanled tha South African Team fo the |AAF World Championships held in Berlin, Germany
during 15 {o 23 August 2008, 1t was alleged that during this period Ms Bogatsu returned to South
Alfrica for a week to apparently write an examination and thereafter returned to Germany for the
remainder of the World Championships.

We confirmed that Ms Bogatsu travelled fo South Africa for the period 3 to 15 August 2009 to
camplete an examination and subsequently raturned to Germany on 16 August 2008, Brooklyn
Travel, ASA’s fravel agents, informed us that Ms Bogatsu made use of her accumulated
SAA Voyager miles to obtain a free return ficket to fly to South Africa and back to Germany.

Ms Bogatsu, however, used her ASA credit card i pay the deparfure taxes of R3838.00 in
respect of the return ticket acquired with her Voyager Mites, which she subsequently allocated (o
the IAAF Worid Championship, ASA event code. In addition, as a further result of the adjustment
to the flight arrangements, a cancellation penally fee in the amount of R880, was also added 1o
ASA’s zccount.

We noted from the financial records thai Ms Bogatsu received a per diem allowance of
USD 4 000 for the period 16 July to 26 August 2009, This amounted to USD 100 per day. This
wouild imply that Ms Bogatsu was paid a per diem aliowance whilst she was in South Africa from
8 to 15 August 2008, which she was not entifled to. We could find no evidence that Ms Bogatsu
reimbursed ASA the amount due in respect of the 7 days per dism or that this amount was
allocated to her staff loan account,

- At the time of receiving the per diem allowance in J uly 2009 the rand/dollar exchange rate was

USD1/R8.14. Using this exchange rate, Ms Bogatsu received a total amount of R32 580 as per
diems. The amount that hMs Bagatsu received for the 7 day period that she was not in Germany
but in Scuth Africa was R5 698,

Ms Bogatsu irregularly obtained funds from ASA and never repafd same. This may constitute
theft or fraud as she must have known that she was nof entitled to a per diem whilst she was in
South Africa, She knew that she would fravel back and did not alert the financial officer dealing
with the payments of per diems that she would be abroad far enly a part of the time. She never
offsred (o or repaid the amount,

. Thersfore it would appear thaf iis Bogafsu could have sfoien 2 fotal amount of R10 418 {RH 538

+ R4 718) of ASA's funds when she adjusted her flight arrangements and did not reimburaa ASA
the per diem amcunt received in respect of the period of 8 August 2009 to 15 August 2009

Excessive expenses in respect of the “back room®

7. In view of allegations that luxurious and extravagant improvements had been performad in

respect of a "room at the back” of ASA's property, we visited the room but did not find evidence of
any such exfravagant or luxurious improvements.

The room was a sfandard room and contained a thres uarter bad, with a standard bathroom.
g

From our high level review of the ASA cashbook we did not identify any excessive expenditure
incurred pertaining {o this room.
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Evidence found pertaining to an ailzged banned substance in Mr alehopo’s office

During the initial physical searches of the offices we found a small container containing an
ampule named “Actovegin®. The contents of the email found next to this ampule refered to this
ampuie as a banned substance. From the contents of the correspondence i appeared that g
parficular athlete was injected with this substancs during an overseas event. t also appeared
that the doctor, Dr Maaki Ramagole, raised concerns regarding the legality of this substance znd
the matter was escalated fo Mr Malehopo, Mr Daniels and Dr Harold Adams (Dr Adarng).

In this regard we interviewed Mr Daniels and Dr Adarms who informed us that they were aware of
the incident. Mr Daniels stated that af the fime he referred the matter to Mr Maiehopo for his
attention. Dr Adams stated that he reperied the matter to the IAAF Council during a-meeting heid
not long after. Dr Adams stated that he was informed by the 1AAF that “Actovegin” was not a
banned substance at the time. However Dr Adams further stated that “Actovegin®’ was a listed
substance at the time and has subsequently been declared a banned substance by the IAAF.

We recommend that SASCOC further investigate the maiter,
Ailegations pertaining o the alleged destruction of ASA documents
Hard copy documents

During the investigation we interviawed Mrs Esther Motlana (irs Motlana), an assistant in the
ASA finance department, regarding the allegation that ASA documents were dsstroyed during or
shorily after the suspension of management and the ASA Board of Directors during early
MNovember 2000,

Mrs Motlana explained fthat the day prior fo the suspension of the ASA Board on
5 November 2008 she noticed that Mr Malehopo was shredding documents in his office.
Mr Malehopo requested her to assist him in taking documents out of varicus lever arch fies ancg
shredding them. He explained to her that the reason for this was for “recycling purposes” as they
had to clean out the lever arch files dated 2007 in order fo re-use the files for current
documentation.

. She had not found it strange as as it was normally the practice that towards the end of the year

that they “recycled” the lever arch filas 1o get tid of oid documents and to provide emply files for
the offize,

Mrs Motlana couid not remember the type of documents shredded and was only aware of

documents being shreddad in e Malehopo's office.

birs Motlana informed us that the following day while they continued with the shredding process,
Mr Mali, Mr Cobers and other representatives of SASCOC arrived at ASA's office and she fearnt
that the ASA Board and some employees were suspended and that Mir Mali was appointed zs the
interim administrator for ASA. Kirs Moflana indicated that dMr Mali had noficed that she was busy
shredding documentation in Mr Malehope's office.
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Not long after the suspension of the ASA Board Mr Mali questioned her about the shredding of
the documents and she had confirmed that she was insiructed by Mr Maiehopo fo assist him in
the shredding of documents and that she did not specifically know what documents were
shredded,

Mrs Motlana informed us that i was only when Mr Maii questioned her that she thought it was
strange and suspicious that Mr Malehopo had shredded doguments the day before his
suspension.

However Mrs Motlana rejteraied that she did not know whether Mr Malehopo was destroying
documentary evidence that could implicate him in the investigation instituted by SASCOC.

Mrs Motlana remembered that af the time the shredded documenis were put in plastic dispasal
bags that were removed from Mr Malehopo's office by the ASA office cleaner, Mrs Lizzy Vukeya
{(Mrs Vukeya),

We also interviewed Mrs Vukeya who stated that she couid not remember specifically whether
she removed the disposal bags from Mr Malehopo's office in the days after the suspension of the
ASA Board. Mrs Vukeya further stated that it is quite possible that she could have removed the
disposal bags as it is normally part of her duties to remove the shredded documents from

Mr Malshopo’s office whenever the shredder's waste bin was fufl. Mrs WVukeya added that
normatly she would have taken the disposal bags outside where they would be picked up together
with all the other waste disposal bags.

This was the only available evidence supporting the allegation that just after the suspension of the
ASA board and employees in November 2008, documents kept in ASA’s offices were desiroyead,

Electronic documents

. Qur findings in raspect of access to and delstion of documents on the computers used by the

suspended Board and Management team members on or ¢lose fo the daie of suspension
(5 November 2008} can be summariead as foffows:

- As per the recycle bin on the computer of Ms Bogatsu, we found 7 files and 1 folder that wers

deleted during the period 27 October 2009 to 4 November 2009, However, thousands of files
were recovered (undeleted) during the recovery process from the image of s Bogatsu, Al
recovered files and folders were handad over te the investigation team for further analysis.

. As per the racycie bin on the computer of Mr Malehope, we found 45 files were delsted during the

period 31 July 2008 to 13 Ociober 2009, A copy of these files extracted from the recycle bin was
handed over to the invastigation team for further analysis.

. Thousands of files were recovered (undefeted) during the recovery process from the image of

Mr Malehope. Al recovered files and folders were handed aver to the investigation team for
further analysis.

it was noled that Mrs Tsheletsane's computer's recycle bin contained 53 foiders and 39 files thai
had been deleted on the day of her suspension (6 November 2009).

Other deleted files were noted from the 21 April 2009 to the 15 Qctober 2009. These mainly
constituted personal picture files (phatographs),
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All these delsted files wera recovered and reviswed during our investigation.
Qur Recommendations

Based on the findings included in the Executive Summary above, we want to draw your attention
o the foliowing recommendations pertaining o possible disciplinary actions against specific

Disciplinary actions in respect of the ASA Board

In respect of the ASA Board members, based on the findings included in the Executive Summary,
we are of the view that they neglected to perform their duties and responsibilities in accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act and their fiduciary duties io the company. We could
not find sufficient evidence indicafing that the whole Board of Directors acted male fide or

disciplined should receive proper corporate governance training in order fo enable them o
manage and direct ASA efficiently, in the avent that they are allowed or fequested {c resume their
functions,

Disciplinary asfions in respect of specific individuals

In view of our findings above wa recommend that SASCOC pursue disciplinary steps and/or
consider instituting criminal proceedings where applicable against the following individuals:

Mr Chuene:

¢ For contravening section 226 of the Companies Act as well as ASA’s internal poficies and

= For committing possible fraud and corruption in respect of the payments made o
Nrs Mokgoatfana and the lawyers, Wertheim Becker [nc,

&« For reckiessly carrying on the business of ASA eg. the appointment and excessive
remuneration paid to Mr Sindani in contravention of seclion 424 of the Companies Act,

¢ Forfailing to comply with his fiduciary duties and responsibilities as a diracior.

¢ For possible tax fraud in that he may have failed to declare and pay taxes on income in the
form of per diems.

= Forfailing (o submit a reconciliation with supporting documents in respect of the USD 20 900
r2ceived for the Osaka trip,

M Malehopo:
¢ For contravening section 226 of the Companies Act as wali as ASA’s internal policies and

procedures in respect of the isans thai were irregularly obtained by him for the period
stbsequent to April 2008.

¢ For recklessly carrying on the business of ASA in contravention of saction 424 of the

Companies Act.
*  Forfalling to comply with his fiduciary dulies and responsibilities as a director,
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Kirs Tsholetsane:

« Possible fraud and corruption committed in respect of the procuring of Sequel's services in
that she did not disclose her interest as the sole member of Sequel and entered into
contracts with Sequal on behalf of ASA.

¢ For contravening the provisions of clause 5.4 of the ASA's 2008 Constitution when she did
not disclose her inferest in Sequel Experience,

Ms Bogatsu:

¢ Forfailing {o adhere to ASA’s internal policies and procadures specificaliy relating to the staff
loans and corporate credit card expenses.

= For possible theft and fraud in respect of the abuse and non repayment of per diems and the
utilisation of the corporate credit card for the payment of airport taxes for her personal return
fiight to South Africa,

+  For contravention of the ASA Staff Manual's provisions regarding the use of ASA laptops as
her faptop was used to access pornographic websites.

¢ In respect of the Osaka trip, for receiving the USD 20 000 from Mrs Ferns and subsequently
failing to submit a reconciliation with supporting documents.

SASCOC's reporting ohligation in terms of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt
Activities Act, No 12 of 2004

in respect of the evidence discussed and the findings pertaining to the possibly corrupt and
fraudulent activities by the identified individuals, it is important that SASCOG and the inferim ASA
Board take note of section 34 of the Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act, No. 12 of
2004. This saction provides as follows:

“34, Duty fo report corrupt fransactions.—

{(7) Any person who holds a position of authotity and who knows or ougiit reasonably fo have
known or suspected that any other person has commitfed—

{a) an offence under Part 1, 2, 3 or 4, or section 20 or 21 (in so far as j refetes fo the
aforementioned offences) of Chapfer 2; or

fh} the offence of theft fraud, extortion, fargery or uttering a forged document, involving an
amount of R100 000 or more, must report such knowledge or suspicion or cause such
knovdedge or suspicion fo he reported lo any pofice official.

{2 Subject fo the provisions of section 37 (2), any person who fails fo comply with subsection
{1}, is guilty of an offence.

3} (8} Upen receipt of a report referred to in subsection (1), he police official concerned
must take down the report in the manner directed by the National Commissioner, and
forthwith provide the person who mada the reporl with an acknowledgment of receipt of
such report

it is therefore recommendad that SASCOC and the interim ASA Board report the suspected
criminal activities to the South African Police Service (SAPS), as failure to do so by the persons in
a position of authority may attract eriminal liability and significant penalties. Further investigation
by the SAPS and the uilisation of their powers may also unearih further evidence of undue

45



South African Sports Confederation and Clympic Commities (BASCOC)
Report: Forensic audit and investigation inlo alleged irregularities at ASA
Private & Confidential

13 August 2010

2.208.

2.207.

benefits or grafificaiion which may in turn warrant further criminal or civil action against the
implicated individuals.

More details to this reporfing duty are included in section & befow.
Recommendations in respect of ASA's auditor

In respect of the auditor's (Mr de Beer) knowledge and involvement in reflecting
Mr Chuene’s staff loans as irade debtors in the ASA annual financial statements for the period
2006 to 2008 it is important to note the following sections of the Auditing Profsssion Act No. 26 of
2005 (Auditing Profession Act):

+ Section 45 provides that a registered auditor has a duty to report irreguiarities committed
to the Independent Regulatory Beard for Auditors (IRBA). A reportable irregularity
includes any unlawful act such as fraud.

= Seciion 52 provides that a registered auditor who fails fo report a reporiable irregutarity
shall be guilty of an offence )

Although there is no legal obligation on SASCOC to report Mr de Beer {0 IRBA, we recormmend
that SASCOC should consider lodging a complaint at IRBA,

Recommendations in respect of per diems paid to Bir Chusne, Ms Bogatsu and
Mr Malehopo

SASCOC shouid report to SARS that Mr Chuene did not pay tax according to section 8(1)(c) of
the Income Tax Act on the per diems he received from hoth ASA and the IAAF. SASCOC should
also repori to SARS that the per diems received by Mr Chuens, Ms Bogatsu and Mr Malehopo
were  not reflected on the [RP 5s as requested by the Income Tax Act
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